
 

 
 
PREAMBLE  
 
Nihal Sri Ameresekere had been a Promoter, Subscriber and Director of Hotel Developers (Lanka) 
Ltd., (HDL), owning Company of Colombo Hilton Hotel, from its inception. When Nihal Sri 
Ameresekere had raised questions on serious irregularities and wrong-doings in the construction 
of the Hilton Hotel by the Japanese Consortium, he had been encouraged to litigate by then 
Deputy Secretary to the Treasury K. Shanmugalingam, then Director General External Resources 
Akiel Mohammed and  then World Bank Country Director Hari Aggrawal. 
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The foregoing had been in the circumstances of Sri Lanka facing an international ‘cross-default’ 
with the Japanese Consortium having given Notice of Default of the Sate Guarantees given to 
them, which value exceeded the value of the Foreign Exchange Reserves at that time, to the 
Secretary, Ministry of Finance & Treasury R. Paskaralingam, when the foreign exchange reserves 
of Sri Lanka previously had been even in the negative. Hence, then Attorney General Sunil de 
Silva P.C., Secretary, Ministry of Finance & Treasury R. Paskaralingam endorsed the litigation by 
Nihal Sri Ameresekere.  
 
The Enjoining Order preventing payments to the Japanese Consortium, staying the State 
Guarantees, had been faxed immediately to the Office then Sri Lanka IMF Director Dr. L.E.N. 
Fernando, to be used by Secretary, Ministry of Finance & Treasury R. Paskaralingam and Deputy 
Secretary to the Treasury K. Shanmugalingam, who were then in Washington negotiating with 
IMF and World Bank. 
 
PRESIDENT R. PREMADASA & STATE DEFENCE MINISTER RANJAN WIJERATNE HAD ENDORSED 
NIHAL SRI AMERESEKERE’S ACTIONS  
 
The following Letters by then State Minister of Defence Ranjan Wijeratne and Letter by K.H.J. 
Wijedasa, Secretary to the President, on the direction of President R. Premadasa, are given 
below: 
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LITIGATIONS  
 
Sri Lanka Government and the Japanese Government colluded to cover-up a colossal fraud 
perpetrated on the Government of Sri Lanka by Mitsui & Co. Ltd., and Taisei Corporation of Japan, 
together with Japanese Architects Kanko Kikaku Sekkeisha, Yozo Shibata & Associates (KKS), 
where the Supreme Court of Sri Lanka upheld a strong prima-facie case of fraud in a case 
instituted by Nihal Sri Ameresekere, preventing any payments being made to Mitsui & Co. Ltd., 
and Taisei Corporation, KKS by HDL and by the Government of Sri Lanka under the State 
Guarantees given. Case No. HC(C) 116/96(1) (D.C. Colombo Case No. 3155/Spl) reported in 
Commonwealth (Commercial) Law Reports – [1992] LRC (Comm) @ 636 – Ameresekere v Mitsui & Co. 
Ltd. and Others and in [1993] 1 SLR @ 22  
 
In addition, Nihal Sri Ameresekere instituted a Case against HDL, enjoining the adoption of the 
Annual Accounts of HDL, which the Attorney General did not contest.  Case No. HC(C) 134/96(1) 
(D.C. Colombo Case No. 3231/Spl).  
 

EVIDENCE OF PRESSURES EXERTED BY THE JAPANESE GOVERNMENT ! 
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Extract Note 

 
IRREFUTABLE EVIDENCE OF CRIMINALITY 

 
Thereafter irrefutable evidence of criminality of the cannibalization of the Architectural Plans 
was proven before a Special Presidential Commission, whose Warrant was coincidently not 
extended by President Chandrika Kumaratunga. Hilton International under a separate Technical 
Assistance Agreement corroborated with KKS to finalise the Architectural Plans and would they  
have not known this criminality to defraud ? 
 
AGREEMENTS TO SETTLE AS PER THE PLEADINGS OF THE GOVERNMENT OF SRI LANKA, DUE TO 
THREATENING PRESSURES EXERTED BY THE JAPANESE GOVERNMENT 
 
As a consequence, Agreements formulated by the Attorney General Tilak Marapana P.C., and 
Secretary, Ministry of Finance & Treasury, R. Paskaralingam, Deputy Secretary Treasury,  K. 
Shanmugalingam, Addl. Solicitor General  A.S.M. Perera P.C., and subsequently improved upon 
by Solicitor General Douglas Premaratne P.C. and A.S. Jayawardena, Secretary, Ministry of 
Finance & Treasury were entered into by the Government of Sri Lanka with Mitsui & Co. Ltd., 
Taisei Corporation, HDL and Nihal Sri Ameresekere, who established such fraud and exposed the 
above evidence of criminality before the Special Presidential Commission. 
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Prior to signing the Agreements Nihal Sri Ameresekere had given Quotations from Ernst & Young 
and Vanik Incorporation to Secretary, Ministry of Finance & Treasury, A.S. Jayawardena indicating 
rates of Compensation, whereby the Government of Sri Lanka stood bound thereby. This was for 
a normal instance, whereas this is an instance with complex litigations overcoming obstacles.   
 

Thereafter due to further threatening pressures exerted by the Japanese Government to 
withhold Aid to Sri Lanka, just before an Aid-Group Meeting, an Addendum to the above 
Agreements was formulated by the  Attorney General Sarath N. Silva P.C., and Secretary, Ministry 
of Finance & Treasury, B.C. Perera and Deputy Secretary Treasury P.B. Jayasundera, who had 
played a pivotal role, and signing as a Witness to the Addendum. They acted on the directions of 
President Chandrika Kumaratunga.  
 
Previously President D.B. Wijetunga had endeavoured to conclude a Settlement also on pressures 
exerted by the Japanese Government. He had invited Nihal Sri Ameresekere for a discussion in 
this regard – viz: 
 

 
 

Attorney General Tilak Marapana P.C., and Addl. Solicitor General A.S.M. Perera P.C., had been 
present, in addition Dr. Gamini Wijesekere. 
 
President D.B. Wijetunga had agreed with Nihal Sri Ameresekere that payments cannot be made 
to Mitsui & Co. Ltd., and Taisei Corporation, as per the stance taken by Nihal Sri Ameresekere  
and demonstrated with Documents.  
 

Furthermore, Mitsui & Co. Ltd., and Taisei Corporation had wanted Promissory Notes from the 
Government of Sri Lanka in addition to the State Guarantees, which Nihal Sri Ameresekere had 
rejected. Previously Mitsui & Co. Ltd., and Taisei Corporation had endeavoured surreptitiously to 
get a Mortgage on the Hilton Hotel which Nihal Sri Ameresekere had prevented. 
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At this stage, President D.B. Wijetunga had invited K.N. Choksy P.C., then Minister of 
Constitutional Affairs, who had been a wrong-doer Director of HDL, and charged by the Special 
Presidential Commission for fraud and causing losses to HDL and the Government of Sri Lanka. 
With Nihal Sri Ameresekere exposing such role of K.N. Choksy P.C., the Meeting abruptly ended.   
Due to threatening pressure exerted by the Japanese Government to withhold Aid, the 
Addendum converted at the behest of the Government of Sri Lanka, with the consent of Nihal Sri 
Ameresekere, ‘Conditions Precedent’ into ‘Conditions Subsequent’ mainly among other 
obligations and commitments to Nihal Sri Ameresekere to have been pre-performed by the 
Government of Sri Lanka and HDL under the Agreements.  Significantly, the Addendum, inter-alia, 
stated thus disclosing pressures exerted by the Japanese Government. 
 

“AND WHEREAS the Government wishes to continue to maintain without any impediment 

the cordial relationships with Japan and the Government has been concerned about the delay 

in the implementation of the aforesaid Agreements 

 
AND WHEREAS in these premises the Government, with the consent and concurrence of 

Ameresekere, has now agreed to proceed with the implementation of the said Agreements 

No.1 and 2 without the fulfilment of the conditions stipulated in Agreements No. 3 and 4 except 

as herein specifically provided. It is understood by and between the parties that the 

Government will take administrative action, as permitted under applicable law, to give effect to 

the contents of Agreements No.3 and 4.” 
 
CONSENT MOTIONS AND CONSENT DECREES  
 
Consequently, Consent Motions formulated by the Attorney General, which were part of the 
above Agreements were signed by the Attorney General and Other Instructing Attorneys and the 
Commercial High Court Ordered and Entered the following Consent Decrees. 
 
It would be noted that the Consent Decrees had specifically recorded thus - ‘….The Government 
of the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lankan have entered into Agreements, settling the 
several issues…..’ 
 
With the ordering and entering of the Consent Decrees, as per the Agreements entered into on 
the intervention of the Government of Sri Lanka, as required therein 
 

i) US $ 30 Mn., accumulated in HDL due to Interim Injunctions obtained by Nihal Sri 
Ameresekere was promptly paid to Mitsui & Co. Ltd., and Taisei Corporation before 
the Sri Lanka Aid-Group Meeting. 
 

ii) 15 dated Promissory Notes for the balance unwritten re-scheduled Debt were also 
issued to Mitsui & Co. Ltd., and Taisei Corporation by HDL, as per the Agreements.  
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CONSENT DECREES ORDERED AND ENTERED BY COURT BOUND PARTIES THERETO. 

WHEN ONE PARTY PERFORMS OTHER PARTIES STAND INJUNCTED TO PERFORM. 

CONSENT DECREES ARE OF A GRAVER NATURE THAN UNDERTAKINGS GIVEN TO 

COURT. SEVERAL INTERNATIONAL AUTHORITIES HAVE WIDELY PRONOUNCED THAT 

CONTEMPT OF COURT OF CONSENT DECREES WARRANT PUNISHMENT BY 

IMPRISONMENT, WHICH IS A BASIC TENET OF LAW.    
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DIAGRAMMATIC PRESENTATION  
 
The following Diagram sets out the aforesaid Agreements and Addendum as INTER-DEPENDENT 
AND INTER-CONNECTED ONE COMPOSITE AGREEMENT.  
 

 
 

CONSENT MOTIONS ARE ANNEXURES ‘A’ & ‘B’ TO AGREEMENT NO. 4, WHICH CONSENT MOTIONS WERE 
SIGNED AND TENDERED TO COMMERCIAL HIGH COURT AND SUPPORTED, AS PER 4 AGREEMENTS + 
ADDENDUM, BASED UPON WHICH COMMERCIAL HIGH COURT ORDERED AND ENTERED CONSENT 
DECREES. THUS, THE AGREEMENTS + ADDENDUM WERE PART AND PARCEL OF THE CONSENT DECREES. 
ALSO A SEPARATE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN HDL & NIHAL SRI AMERESEKERE WAS SIGNED 
CONCURRENTLY AS PER CLAUSES IN THE AGREEMENTS NO. 2 & 4 AND THEREFORE IS ALSO A PART AND 
PARCEL OF THE CONSENT DECREES 
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ACTIONS IN CONTEMPT OF THE CONSENT DECREES ORDERED AND ENTERED BY THE 
COMMERCIAL HIGH COURT  
 
Appallingly, the Government of Sri Lanka, Attorney General, elected and selected Senior Public 
Officers, Judicial Officers and Legal Luminaries, either have been blissfully unaware or have 
deliberately evaded the gravity of non-fulfilment of the above Consent Decrees which had been 
Ordered and Entered by Commercial High Court on the intervention of the Government of Sri 
Lanka, itself at the behest of the Japanese Government, whereby the parties stand injuncted to 
perform.    
 
After the above Consent Decrees had been ordered and entered into by the Commercial High 
Court, a party Charged by the Special Presidential Commission of Inquiry on grounds of fraud 
against HDL and the Government of Sri Lanka, filed / caused Cases to be filed to have the 
Agreements injuncted, whilst having completely ignored the above Consent Decrees Ordered 
and Entered by the Commercial High Court, in contempt thereof.  
 
Not only such party, but also would not the Counsel who settled the Plaints / Petitions have 
exposed themselves to the Offence of contemptuous Contempt of Court of Consent Decrees, 
having knowingly ignored the same, and thereby misleading Court, whilst the Consent Decrees 
had been part and parcel the documents submitted to Court in the said Cases ? 
 
Certain District Courts entertained such Cases and issued Enjoining Orders and Interim 
Injunctions, without recognition of the Consent Decrees which had been Ordered and Entered y 
Commercial High Court which were before the Court, and therefore, had not the District Court 
Judges without jurisdiction entertained such Cases and issue Restraining Orders of the 
Agreements in Contempt of Court of the Consent Decrees ? 
 
The Commercial High Court however had rightfully dismissed such a Case, but was revived by the 
erudite Justice Mark Fernando ! Did Justice Mark Fernando as a Supreme Court Judge and the 
Supreme Court have had jurisdiction to have entertained and deal with such a Case challenging 
Agreements based upon which Consent Decrees had been Ordered and Entered by the 
Commercial High Court ? Therefore would this not have been in Contempt of Court of the 
Consent Decrees ? 
 
Court of Appeal Judge C.V. Wigneswaran, even questionably, acting in collusion with the 
Petitioner’s Counsel, permitted reduced payments to be made Mitsui & Co. Ltd., and Taisei 
Corporation, in terms of the Agreements, which formed part and parcel of the Consent Decrees, 
whilst all other Conditions of the Agreements had been injuncted by him, causing immense loss, 
damage and jeopardy to the HDL and the Government of Sri Lanka. Did not Justice C.V. 
Wigneswaran commit a grave and serious Offence of Contempt of Court of Consent Decrees 
Ordered and Entered by Commercial High Court, without having any jurisdiction to have done 
so ? 
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Thereafter Chief Justice Sarath N. Silva P.C., completely overlooking the fact that he, himself, as 
then Attorney General, together with Secretary, Ministry of Finance & Treasury B.C. Perera and 
Deputy Secretary Treasury P.B. Jayasundera had examined the Agreements and formulated the 
above Addendum and had caused the Consent Decrees to be entered into by Commercial High 
Court on the basis of Consent Motions, which had been formulated as a part of the Agreements. 
Would this not tantamount to Contempt of Court of Consent Decrees which had been so obtained 
on behalf of the Government of Sri Lanka ? 
 
In such circumstances, could Chief Justice Saran N. Silva P.C. and the Supreme Court have had 
jurisdiction to have dealt with and interfered with the Agreements which formed a part and 
parcel of the above Consent Decrees Ordered and Entered by the Commercial High Court ? 
Would not such interference by the several relevant Supreme Court Judges have tantamount to 
Contempt of Court of the Consent Decrees Ordered and Entered by the Commercial High Court, 
noting also that the Supreme Court is the highest judiciary ?  
 
Thereafter, Secretary Ministry of Finance & Treasury, P.B. Jayasundera had given an Undertaking 
to the Supreme Court, through the Attorney General, that the compensation to Nihal Sri 
Ameresekere would be independently determined and had subsequently appointed Merchant 
Bank of Sri Lanka Ltd., a Subsidiary of Bank of Ceylon to do so. P.B. Jayasundera had acted in 
Contempt of the Undertakings given to the Supreme Court. 
 
CONTEMPTUOUS CONTEMPT OF COURT BY ELECTED AND SELECTED PUBLIC OFFICERS ? 
 

When then Secretary Treasury P.B. Jayasundera had been called upon to fulfill the obligations 
and commitments to Nihal Sri Ameresekere under the Agreements, based upon which Consent 
Decrees had been ordered and entered into by the Commercial High Court, P.B. Jayasundera 
repeatedly ignored such requirements.  
 

Later on the intervention of Lalith Weeratunga then Secretary to H.E. the President, P.B. 
Jayasundera extorted a Letter under duress to provide a Personal Overdraft to Nihal Sri 
Ameresekere as an interim measure, in complete contradiction of the stipulations in the 
Agreements of an independent professional determination, ironically he having previously got 
a reckless Report from Merchant Bank of Sri Lanka Ltd., a Subsidiary of Bank of Ceylon. 
 

Nihal Sri Ameresekere accordingly had given a further Letter to Secretary Ministry of Finance & 
Treasury P.B. Jayasundera, Lalith Weeratunga then Secretary to H.E. the President and General 
Manager, Bank of Ceylon at the same time stating that the fulfillment of obligations and 
commitments to Nihal Sri Ameresekere should be as per the Agreements based upon which 
Consent Decrees had been Ordered and Entered by Commercial High Court.  
 

This was in connection with an arrangement of a Personal Temporary Overdraft from the Bank 
of Ceylon, as an interim measure, for which Nihal Sri Ameresekere had paid interest, but due to 
the default of payment of Compensation rightfully and lawfully due to Nihal Sri Ameresekere, 
this Overdraft is in default and Nihal Sri Ameresekere, a Sovereign Creditor of the Government 
of Sri Lanka had been reported to CRIB, causing him irremediable mischief and irreparable 
damage. In this regard, ‘Flyer’ on Books authored by Nihal Sri Ameresekere for the global market 
is annexed as Schedule V hereto.   
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For such detriment and damage there is no remedy, ironically Nihal Sri Ameresekere having 
agreed to co-operate with Government of Sri Lanka in having his 2 Cases settled and withdrawn 
as had been required by the Government of Sri Lanka, due to threatening pressures exerted by 
the Japanese Government on the basis of Agreements entered into, upon which Consent Decrees 
had been Ordered and Entered by Commercial High Court. 
 
P.B. Jayasundera had played a pivotal role in persuading Nihal Sri Ameresekere to enter into the 
Addendum with the solemn promise of fulfillment of obligations and commitments to Nihal Sri 
Ameresekere which had been ‘Conditions Precedent’ and then converted to ‘Conditions 
Subsequent’ due to lack of time before an imminent Sri Lanka Aid Group Meeting where Japanese 
Government had threatened to withhold Aid, which he had attended.     
 
Thereafter in the infamous John Keells Colombo Port Oil Bunkering Case in the Supreme Court, 
Nihal Sri Ameresekere having played an exhaustive role in proving a series of fraudulent actions 
by P.B. Jayasundera, as directed by the Supreme Court, P.B. Jayasundera had to give-up all Public 
Office and gave an Affidavit to the Supreme Court in that behalf. viz- (IMF, World Bank & ADB Agenda on 

Privatisation – Vol. 3: Colombo Port Bunkering Privatisation – Annulled as Illegal & Fraudulent by Supreme Court) 
 
Later, on an Application made by P.B Jayasundera the Supreme Court by a majority controversial 
decision of 6 to 1 permitted P.B. Jayasundera to assume the role as a Secretary, Ministry of 
Finance.  
 
In such circumstances P.B. Jayasundera had been a hostile party and thus disqualified from 
having dealt with the obligations and commitments to Nihal Sri Ameresekere under the 
Agreements based upon which Consent Decrees had been Ordered and Entered by Commercial 
High Court. Had not P.B. Jayasundera abused his State authority ? 
 
ROLE PLAYED BY ATTORNEY GENERAL, SECRETARY, MINISTRY OF FINANCE & TREASURY AND 
PUBLIC OFFICERS  
 
The respective Attorney Generals Sunil de Silva P.C.,  T.J. Marapana P.C., Solicitor General, 
Douglas Premaratne P.C., on behalf of Shibly Aziz P.C., Sarath N. Silva P.C., and K.C. 
Kalamasabayson P.C. had always acted by having regular discussions together with Nihal Sri 
Ameresekere and his Counsel, with the participation of the respective Secretaries of the Ministry 
of Finance and Deputy Secretaries Treasury, namely, R. Paskaralingam, K. Shanmugalingam, A.S. 
Jayawardena and B.C. Perera and P.B. Jayasundera, acting for and on behalf of the Government 
of Sri Lanka. This was to persuade Nihal Sri Ameresekere to enter into the Agreements and 
Addendum and to withdraw his 2 Cases on the threatening pressures exerted by the Japanese 
Government. 
 
Certain Senior Public Officers had required an Order of Court, without realizing that the Consent 
Decrees themselves bound them, particularly with the Government of Sri Lanka having 
intervened to arrange the same, and whereby they stood injuncted to fulfill the obligations and 
commitments in terms of the Agreements based upon which Consent Decrees had been Ordered 
and Entered by Commercial High Court ! Not to have done so is Contempt of Court.  
 



12 
 

CONSEQUENT EVASION BY ATTORNEY GENERAL, SECRETARY, MINISTRY OF FINANCE & 
TREASURY AND OTHERS   
 

Having persuaded Nihal Sri Ameresekere to enter into Agreements and subsequently the 
Addendum, even converting ‘Conditions Precedent’ to ‘Conditions Subsequent’ of obligations 
and commitments to him by the Government of Sri Lanka and HDL, thereafter Attorney Generals 
and the Secretaries of Ministry of Finance and Treasury, dubiously have evaded and avoided 
meeting with Nihal Sri Ameresekere, as had been so required by him and fulfilling the obligations 
and commitments to him which had been ‘Conditions Precedent’ of a Court Decreed Creditor 
under Consent Decrees defaulted by the Government of Sri Lanka ! 
 

The respective Attorney Generals  C. R. De Silva P.C., Mohan Peiris, Eva Wanasundera P.C., Palitha 
Fernando P.C.,  Yuwanjana Wijayatilake P.C.,  Jayatha Jayasuriya P.C.,  Dappula de Livera P.C., 
Sanjay Rajaratnam, together with respective Secretaries, Ministry of Finance & Treasury, 
Charitha Ratwatte, P.B. Jayasundera, Sumith Abeysinghe, R.H.S. Samaratunga and S.R. Attygalle 
have not had any meaningful discussions with Nihal Sri Ameresekere to fulfill the obligations and 
commitments to him of the Government of Sri Lanka and HDL under the Consent Decrees 
Ordered and Entered by Commercial High Court, notwithstanding Nihal Sri Ameresekere’s 
written request for a Meeting before Attorney General for which an assurance had been given. 
 
Did not such Public Officers stand in contemptuous Contempt of Court of Consent Decrees ? 
Where the State is in Contempt of Court, the relevant Officials stand liable to be charged for the 
Offence of Contempt of Court, as per established authorities. One does not enter into 
Agreements in utmost good faith with Sovereign Governments, anticipating to be cheated by 
such sovereign Governments.   
 
H.E. THE PRESIDENT DIRECTED URGENT ACTION TO BE TAKEN  
 
On representations made to H.E. the President Maithripala Sirisena, Directives had been issued 
by him through Austin Fernando, Secretary to H.E. the President to Finance Minister Mangala 
Samaraweera and Minister Public Enterprise Development Kabir Hashim, directing them to take 
action on this commercial matter. These Letters have been copied to Nihal Sri Ameresekere – 
viz:       
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H.E. the President, is the Head of the State, Head of the Executive and of the Government, and 
Government of Sri Lanka is a party to the Agreements and the Consent Decrees, the 
Government, itself, having intervened to bring about the Agreements, as recorded in the 
Consent Decrees. 
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INDIFFERENCE OF ELECTED AND SELECTED PUBLIC OFFICIALS  
 
Disregarding such presidential Directions, Minister Kabir Hashim appointed a Committee of 
Officials to examine this matter on which Commercial High Court had Ordered and Entered 
Consent Decrees based on Agreements, as per his Ministry’s Letter dated 22.2.2018.  
 
The Committee comprised of Officials S.R. Attygalle, Deputy Secretary Treasury (Chairman) (also 
Director, Bank of Ceylon), V. Kanagasabapathi, former Deputy Secretary Treasury and Ravindra 
Hewavitharana, Secretary, Ministry of Public Enterprise Development and then Deputy Solicitor 
General Sumathi Dharmawardene.  
 
This Committee had not summoned Nihal Sri Ameresekere to be heard and to ascertain the facts, 
thereby denying him natural justice, notwithstanding his requirement for a Meeting. Nor had 
the Committee all the Documents and facts before them as had been subsequently admitted by 
A.K.D.D.D. Arandara, Director Legal, Ministry of Finance ! 
 
Finance Minister Mangala Samaraweera got Chairman / CEO, National Agency for Public-Private 
Partnership Thilan Wijesinghe and A.K.D.D.D. Arandara, Director Legal, Ministry of Finance to 
meet Nihal Sri Ameresekere, together with his Lawyers, just on one day and they had promised 
to get back to Nihal Sri Ameresekere after all relevant facts having been clarified and Llist of 
Documents submitted to them, however questionably they had not got back to him.  
 
Thereafter Finance Minister Mangala Samaraweera had requested Minister Malik 
Samarawickreme to meet Nihal Sri Ameresekere to have this matter concluded. Though Minister 
Malik Samarawiskreme had intimated to Nihal Sri Ameresekere that he has made 
recommendations to Finance Ministry, it had apparently been rejected by Secretary, Ministry of 
Finance & Treasury R.H.S. Samaratunga, who took the law into his own hands.  
 
Did not the foregoing persons act in sheer Contempt of Court of the Consent Decrees Ordered 
and Entered by Commercial High Court ? 
 
QUESTIONABLE ROLE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL  
 
At the same time, Austin Fernando, Secretary to H.E. the President wrote to Nihal Sri 
Ameresekere stating that R. Paskaralingam, Senior Advisor to Prime Minister Ranil 
Wickremesinghe would have the matter concluded, as an urgent measure, with copies of the 
Letter to Attorney General and R. Paskaralingam. 
 
Thereafter R. Paskaralingam wrote a Letter to Nihal Sri Ameresekere informing him that he had 
taken up the matter at a discussion Prime Minister Ranil Wickremesinghe had with then  Attorney 
General Jayantha Jayasuriya P.C., (present Chief Justice), and that he had to intimated that Nihal 
Sri Ameresekere had to pursue this matter further with Secretary, Public Enterprise 
Development,  Ravindra Hewavitharana, and that Attorney General’s Officials were still dealing 
with this matter.  
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Is this not clear evidence of stalling by the highest Officials of the State of the fulfillment of the 
obligations and commitments to Nihal Sri Ameresekere under the Consent Decrees Ordered and 
Entered by the Commercial High Court at the behest of the Government of Sri Lanka represented 
by Attorney General and Secretary, Ministry of Finance & Treasury ? 
 

 
 

QUESTIONABLE CABINET SUB-COMMITTEE  
 
Thereafter when the matter had come up before the Cabinet of Ministers, then Minister Sarath 
Amunugama had intervened to have the matter examined by a Cabinet Sub-Committee, who had 
never summoned Nihal Sri Ameresekere to ascertain the facts, though Nihal Sri Ameresekere had 
so required.  
 
Letter dated 9.6.2017 from K.D.N. Ranjith Asoka, Director General, Department of Public 
Enterprises, Finance Ministry, discloses the irresponsible sheer indifference in which the 
Cabinet Sub-Committee had acted ? 
 
No Meeting had been had and no Report had given to the Cabinet within 3 weeks, as had been 
stipulated by Cabinet. Does this not tantamount to a brazen act of Contempt of Court of Consent 
Decrees Ordered and Entered by Commercial High Court ? 
 
What right has the Cabinet of Ministers to examine Consent Decrees Ordered and Entered by 
Commercial High Court, that too, on the intervention of the Government of Sri Lanka ?  
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REPRESENTATIONS TO PRIME MINISTER & FINANCE MINISTER  
 
In response to the representations made by Nihal Sri Ameresekere to the Prime Minister & 
Finance Minister Mahinda Rajapakse, following Letters were promptly sent by the Prime 
Minister’s Office addressed to S.R. Attygalle, with copies to Nihal Sri Ameresekere. 
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Secretary, Ministry of Finance & Treasury S.R. Attygalle had acted with scant disregard to the 
foregoing Letters of the Prime Minister of Sri Lanka. S.R. Attygalle was known to have worked / 
working very closely with P.B. Jayasundera, a party hostile to Nihal Sri Ameresekere for having 
exposed several of his fraudulent deals, causing colossal losses to the State.  
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INTRIGUING ACTION BY PRIME MINISTER RANIL WICKREMESINGHE ? 
 
Prime Minister Ranil Wickremesinghe, through his admittedly illegal Anti-Corruption Office, had 
forwarded a Complaint to the now acknowledged unlawful FCID, based on a stolen Confidential 
Letter robbed / pilfered from the Bank of Ceylon, which a JVP Provincial Councilor, Asoka 
Ranawala had provided, with JVP Leader, Anura Kumara Dissanayake, also a Member of this 
infamous Anti-Corruption Committee.  
 
The FCID Chief Police Investigator R.A.K. Premaratane having recorded a Statement of Facts with 
Documents from Nihal Sri Ameresekere, realized the gravity of the Agreements and Consent 
Decrees Ordered and Entered by the Commercial High Court, and the matter had been simply 
dropped. But the damage had been done, whilst there was no apology, whatsoever, to Nihal Sri 
Ameresekere. R.A.K. Premaraatne had advised Nihal Sri Ameresekere that this investigation had 
been shockingly done under the supervision of the Attorney General (present Chief Justice). 
 
As a part of the investigations, FCID without a Court Order, had obtained particulars of Nihal Sri 
Ameresekere’s Personal Account at Bank of Ceylon, and the Bank Officials had disclosed 
information, notwithstanding banking secrecy laws. S.R. Attygalle, Deputy Secretary Treasury, 
also a Director of Bank of Ceylon, had also afforded information, which is unbecoming conduct 
of a Bank Director to have done so without an Order of Court.   
 
Bank of Ceylon too had failed and neglected to investigate the Complaint of Nihal Sri 
Ameresekere of the robbed / pilfered Letter. Bank of Ceylon at the relevant time came under 
the supervision of Minister Kabir Hashim, who had acted in Contempt of the Consent Decrees 
and had perversely precipitated a public scandal damaging the name, standing and repute of 
NIhal Sri Ameresekere. Please see the ‘Blog’ for details by S.P. Sriskantha, Attorney-at-Law –   
https://www.consultants21.com/nihal-sri-ameresekere-hilton-hotel-case-new/ 
 
It is relevant to place on record that in the infamous John Keells Colombo Ports Oil Bunkering 
Case, Nihal Sri Ameresekere personally appearing had played an active role in proving the 
fraudulent deal before the Supreme Court. This included the disclosure with evidence of then 
Prime Minister Ranil Wickremesinghe, 3rd Respondent, of having forced then Chairman Sri Lanka 
Ports Authority to sign the Agreement, as had been recorded in the Board Minutes of the 
Colombo Ports Authority. 
 
It has also been disclosed that then BOI Chairman Arjuna Mahendran had afforded a fraudulent 
BOI Approval for this dubious Project, which was annulled by the Supreme Court, recovering the 
past profits. Suppressing such facts Prime Minister Ranil Wickremesinghe in 2015 had endorsed 
the unquestionable integrity and credibility of Arjuna Mahendran to be appointed Governor, 
Central Bank of Sri Lanka, amidst serious opposition thereto. viz -  (IMF, World Bank & ADB Agenda on 

Privatisation – Vol. 3: Colombo Port Bunkering Privatisation – Annulled as Illegal & Fraudulent by Supreme Court)  
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.consultants21.com/nihal-sri-ameresekere-hilton-hotel-case-new/
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CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION SCUTTLED  
 
Attorney General K.C. Kamalasabayson P.C. had previously directed the Criminal Investigation 
Department to take criminal action on the fraud established before the Special Presidential 
Commission, which had been questionably stalled by the Attorney General’s Department and 
then Director-CID A.R. Waidyalankara, who had attempted a voluminous impossible task to 
obtain photocopies of the original Documents lodged with the National Archives Department 
by the Special Presidential Commission, with permission having been already granted by the 
Secretary to H.E. the President to remove the said original Documents from the Department of 
the National  Archives as per the law. Consequently it is the same A.R. Waidyalankara, who 
headed the infamous FCID and the above malicious investigation ! 
 
PROVEN ATTEMPT TO CHEAT NIHAL SRI AMERESEKERE ! 
 
Subsequently, Secretary, Ministry of Finance & Treasury, S.R. Attygalle acting in concert and 
collusion with Addl. Solicitor General Sumathi Dharmawardene P.C., and Director Legal, Finance 
Ministry,  A.K.D.D.D. Arandara, behind the back of Nihal Sri Ameresekere had unilaterally 
submitted a purported Draft Agreement titled “Resolution of Claims by Nihal Sri Ameresekere 
against Hotel Developers Lanka PLC …”, which had been rejected outright by Nihal Sri 
Ameresekere. 
 
Nihal Sri Ameresekere had pointed out that the fulfillment of obligations and commitments to 
him were by the Government of Sri Lanka and HDL as per the Agreements based upon which 
Consent Decrees had been Ordered and Entered by the Commercial High Court.  
 
The foregoing is ample proof of a deliberate attempt to cheat Nihal Sri Ameresekere, in addition 
to acting in Contempt of Court of the Consent Decrees.  
 
The foregoing has been brazenly done, whilst Nihal Sri Ameresekere had required a Meeting 
before Attorney General Sanjay Rajaratnam P.C. to have a discussion, as had been had previously 
for the Agreements and the Consent Decrees, to fulfill the obligations and commitments to Nihal 
Sri Ameresekere under the said Agreements formulated by Attorney General, based upon which 
Consent Decrees had been Ordered and Entered by the Commercial High Court.  
 
Then Attorney General Sarath N. Silva P.C.,  Secretary, Ministry of Finance & Treasury B.C. Perera 
and Deputy Secretary Treasury P.B. Jayasundera had persuaded Nihal Sri Ameresekere to 
withdraw his 2 Cases before the fulfilment of the ‘Conditions Precedent’. 
 
Having so acted, they stood even more obligated to have performed and fulfilled the obligations 
and commitments to Nihal Sri Ameresekere and not to have done so is unexpected and 
unworthy conduct of the Attorney General and Senior Public Officials. 
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CONDUCT AND ACTIONS IN BREACH OF CONDITIONS OF THE AGREEMENTS BASED UPON  
WHICH CONSENT DECREES HAD BEEN ORDERED AND ENTERED BY COMMERCIAL HIGH COURT  
 
The foregoing conduct and actions are in complete contradiction to and in violation of the 
Conditions of the Agreements based upon which Consent Decrees had been Ordered and 
Entered by Commercial High Court and a perverse attempt to cheat Nihal Sri Ameresekere, a 
Sovereign Creditor of the Government of Sri Lanka, by undue means. 
 
Even Nihal Sri Ameresekere’s own monies paid as interest on his Personal Overdraft which were 
to be refunded by the Treasury, now amounting to over Rs. 90 Mn., has been deliberately held 
back, to financially frustrate the Sovereign Creditor Nihal Sri Ameresekere, and to evade and 
avoid the fulfillment of the obligations and commitments by the Government of Sri Lanka to Nihal 
Sri Ameresekere, as per the Agreements entered into by the Government of Sri Lanka, based 
upon which Consent Decrees had been Ordered and Entered by Commercial High Court. 
 

The foregoing had also been in the circumstances of the Covid-19 pandemic lockdowns and  the 
harassment of the Sovereign Creditor Nihal Sri Ameresekere by unwarranted litigations and 
voluminous correspondence, pushing him to a dire financial predicament and to unjustly exploit 
such situation by this long prolonged wrongful and unlawful delay in Contempt of Court of the 
Consent Decrees with sheer disregard to Court.  
 
In comparison previously Nihal Sri Ameresekere had been persuaded by the Government of Sri 
Lanka,  with the Government of Sri Lanka having entered into Agreements persuading Nihal Sri 
Ameresekere to withdraw his 2 Cases even converting ‘Conditions Precedent’ into ‘Conditions 
Subsequent’, with immense admitted benefit to the Government of Sri Lanka and HDL, as given 
below, in the context of which obligations and commitments of both the Government of Sri 
Lanka and HDL had been clearly stipulated in the Agreements: 
 

Write-off & Re-scheduling of Foreign Exchange Loans benefitting the Government of Sri 
Lanka and HDL 

 

“Mitsui & Taisei wrote-off in June 1995 Jap. Yen. 17,586 Mn., then US $ 207 Mn., 
or Sri Lankan Rs. 10,200 Mn., which write-off on foreign loans at value as at 
30.6.2021 at Average Weighted Fixed Deposit Rate (AWFDR) amounting to SL Rs. 
140.9 Bn., and likewise, foreign loans balance at value as at 30.6.2021 amounting 
to SL Rs. 81.3 Bn., had been re-scheduled over a further period of 16 years, at a 
reduced rate of interest of 5.25% p.a.” 

 

Had Nihal Sri Ameresekere not agreed with the urgings of the Government of Sri Lanka, and had 
pursued his 2 Cases, he would have then succeeded in obtaining Orders not to pay Mitsui & Co. 
Ltd., and Taisei Corporation, and would have accumulated over US $ 150 Mn., in HDL, where US 
$ 30 Mn., accumulated in HDL as per the Interim Injunctions obtained by Nihal Sri Ameresekere, 
had been released to Mitsui & Co. Ltd., and Taisei Corporation on the signing of Addendum as 
had been required by the Government of Sri Lanka.  
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If Nihal Sri Ameresekere had chosen to do so as aforesaid, today he, among Others, would have 
been the main Stakeholders of HDL and not the Government of Sri Lanka.  
 
Not only the Government of Sri Lanka, but HDL also has acted in blatant violation of the 
Conditions stipulated in the Agreements upon which Consent Decrees had been Ordered and 
Entered by Commercial High Court. 
 
HDL’s obligations had been clearly stipulated in the Agreements. HDL’s Board of Directors had 
not been reconstituted in accordance therewith, nor had HDL conducted its affairs as per the 
binding stipulations in the Agreements. The respective HDL Chairmen, Competent Authorities 
and HDL Board of Directors, including HDL Company Secretaries stand accountable and 
responsible therefor, including Contempt of Court of Consent Decrees.  
 
SRI LANKA GOVERNMENT AND HDL’S OBLIGATIONS AND INDEMNITIES AFFORDED TO NIHAL 
SRI AMERESEKERE   
 

Agreement No. 1  –  between Government, Mitsui & Taisei and HDL 

 
 

“18. Mr. Ameresekere has agreed to settle and withdraw D.C. Colombo Action No. 

3155/Spl., upon the fulfilment of the conditions precedent set out in Clause 3 of the 

said Agreement No. 4, and  

 

(a). the Government shall and will not commit any act or omission by inactivity or 

otherwise, which shall or may in any manner whatsoever or howsoever impede 

the prompt fulfilment of the said conditions precedent, and 

            

(b). Mitsui and Taisei shall and will not commit any act or omission by abstention or 

otherwise, which shall or may in any manner whatsoever or howsoever impede 

the fulfilment of the said conditions precedent.” 

 

 Agreement No. 3  –  between the Government and Nihal Sri Ameresekere 

 
“6.  The Government shall and will hold Mr. Ameresekere, his heirs, executors and 

administrators freed from and/or indemnified against and/or saved harmless 

from any claims, demands, actions or consequences of whatsoever kind or nature 

arising from or attributable to Mr. Ameresekere instituting and/or settling the 

said District Court Colombo Actions numbered 3155/Spl and 3231/Spl, and/or 

acting or purporting to act in furtherance thereof and/or reaching Agreement as 

referred to herein and further the Government shall and will support and/or assist 

Mr. Ameresekere in any matter whatsoever connected therewith.” 

 

 

 Agreement No. 2  –  between the Government and HDL 
 

“25. The parties hereto jointly and/or severally shall and will hold Mr. Ameresekere 

his heirs executors and administrators freed from and/or indemnified against 

and/or saved harmless from any claims, demands, actions or consequences of 

whatsoever kind or nature arising from, or attributable to, Mr. Ameresekere 

instituting and/or settling the said District Court Colombo Actions numbered 

3155/Spl and 3231/Spl, and/or acting or purporting to act in furtherance thereof 

and/or reaching Agreement as referred to herein and further the said Parties shall 

and will support and/or assist Mr. Ameresekere in any matter whatsoever 

connected therewith.” 
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The foregoing conduct and actions had been blatantly perpetrated in reckless breach, inter-alia, 
of the foregoing conditions and indemnities in the Agreements which formed a part and parcel 
of the Consent Decrees Ordered and Entered by Commercial High Court. Do not the foregoing 
conduct and actions tantamount to grave and serious contemptuous Contempt of Court of 
Consent Decrees Ordered and Entered by Commercial High Court, and ought not all those 
concerned to be held accountable for such Offence of Contempt of Court upholding the rule of 
law and the standing of Court, irrespective of the status personalities concerned.  
 

In addition would not the foregoing circumstances of harm caused to and harassment of Nihal 
Sri Ameresekere, a Sovereign Creditor of the Government of Sri Lanka, in blatant breach of the 
foregoing conditions and indemnities afforded by Government of Sri Lanka and HDL in terms of 
the Consent Decrees give rise to further Damages payable by the Government of Sri Lanka and 
HDL to Nihal Sri Ameresekere ? 
 

Had not only elected and selected Senior Public Officers, but even the State itself, Judiciary, 
Senior Judges, Attorney Generals and knowledgeable Lawyers had shockingly failed to recognize 
and respect the foregoing Consent Decrees and had acted in Contempt of Court after they having 
been put on Notice thereof ? 
 

DISCLOSURE OF CONSENT DECREES  
 

It had been late S.P. Sriskantha, Attorney-at-Law, together with Ms. Bushra Hashim, Attorney-at-
Law, who had in the first instance initiated an Application for Writs of Execution of the Decrees, 
without realizing that they were Consent Decrees.  
 

Thereafter, Ms. Bushra Hashim, Attorney-at-Law, persuaded with the Commercial High Court 
Registry to retrieve the Original Files, which had been stored in Containers for years, due to the 
Commercial High Court Record Room Roof having collapsed. Thereupon the Court had permitted 
the Support of the above Application for Writs of Execution and issued Notices. Regular 
assurances had been given by Attorney General to Court that the matter would be resolved for 
nearly 1 ½ years.  
 

When S.P. Sriskantha, Attorney-at-Law, suddenly passed away, Nihal Sri Ameresekere had 
personally appeared, and with foreign legal advice, had brought out the Contempt of Court of 
Consent Decrees, which binds parties who have consented to the Ordering and Entering of 
Consent Decrees, in this instance based on Agreements formulated by the Attorney General, on 
the intervention of the Government of Sri Lanka, as recorded in the Consent Decrees and the 
parties stood injuncted to perform. 
 

Nihal Sri Ameresekere had been directed by Court to tender an Amended Petition, which had 
been tendered with an Amended Caption titled -  “In the matter of an Application under Chapter 
XXII of the Civil Procedure Code, read with Law applicable to Contempt of Court of Consent 
Decrees” 
 

Nihal Sri Ameresekere having researched with foreign legal lawyers, has cited at that time over 
30 Legal Authorities to expose the law applicable to Consent Decrees, where when one party 
performs the other parties stand injuncted to perform. (A few of the Legal Authorities are given 

in Schedule I hereto) 
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LIABILITY OF JAPANESE GOVERNMENT ?  
 

Would not the Japanese Government stand accountable and responsible under the Commercial 
Law of Sri Lanka for entering and interfering with a commercial transaction, and thereby standing 
liable for damages caused to Nihal Sri Ameresekere, as a consequence of the Japanese 
Government’s undue intervention threatening with pressures.   
 

The following citations from Judgements of Lord Denning MR would be pertinent in the context 
of diplomatic influences and nuances, vis-à-vis, this matter. (1977) 1 All ER @ 892   
 

“If the dispute brings into question, for instance, the legislative or international 
transactions of a foreign government, or the policy of its executive, the court should grant 
immunity if asked to do so, because it does offend the dignity of a foreign sovereign to 
have the merits of such a dispute canvassed in the domestic courts of another country; 
but if the disputes concerns, for instance, the commercial transactions of a foreign 
government (whether carried on by its own departments or agencies or by setting up 
separate legal entities), and it arises properly within the territorial jurisdiction of our 
court, there is no ground for granting immunity” – Rahimtoola v Nizam of Hyderabad 
 
“….. a foreign sovereign has no immunity when it enters into a commercial transaction 
with a trader here and a dispute arises which is properly within the territorial jurisdiction 
of our courts. If a foreign government incorporates a legal entity which buys commodities 
on the London market, or if it has a state department which charter ships on the Baltic 
Exchange it thereby enters into the market places of the world, and international comity 
requires that it should abide by the rules of the market” – Thai–Europe Tapioca Service 
Ltd. v Government of Pakistan  

 
NIHAL SRI AMERESEKERE ENGAGES PRESIDENT’S COUNSEL NIEL UNAMBOOWE   
 
Thereafter with a coincidence of destiny, Nihal Sri Ameresekere entrusted the matter to be dealt 
with by Niel Unamboowe P.C., former Addl. Solicitor General, who together with his Juniors Ms. 
Tersha Nanayakkara, and Lakdev Unamboowe, Attorneys-at-Law, have done extensive research 
and cited over 100 Legal Authorities to support the standing and status of Consent Decrees, and 
breach thereof warranting imprisonment. They are instructed by Ms. Bushra Hashim, Attorney-
at-Law 
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CONCLUSION  
 
Given the traumatic experience Nihal Sri Ameresekere had in mid-October 2021 and the 
miraculous escape from the Galle Face Sea at around 5.00 a.m. in the face of treacherous 
strong monsoon waves, having escaped from being drawn into the Sea, after a struggle for over 
½ hour, having been bashed about on the rocks, and then held by 3 Muslim Boys sleeping 
overnight, and later lifted by Officers of the Navy and rushed to Hospital, where he had 
undergone immediate surgery and had been ordered bed rest from then.  
 
Given his present age of 74 years, he decided to get his loyal Staff, who are familiar with the 
facts, to prepare this Statement of Facts for the benefit of his Family, Lawyers and Professional 
Friends, who have been advising and assisting him.  
 
Also having stood in the public interest throughout his career, he also decided to document 
this, in the interest of Justice and the upholding of the Rule of Law, being enforced equally, 
irrespective of the status of the personalities concerned.   
 

 
 
For more details please visit websites – www.consultants21.com & www.consultants21books.com  
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A FEW LEGAL AUTHORITIES ON  

CONTEMPT OF COURT OF CONSENT DECREES 
 

 
 
 

 The decree issued by consent cannot be modified, except by consent. 
- McGraw v. Traders Nat. Bank (1908) 64 W. Va. 509, 63 S. E. 398;  
- Thompson v. Maxwell, etc. Co. (1897) 168 U. S. 451, 18 Sup. Ct. 121 

 
 

  

 

 

 

- @ Pages 137-138 of Contempt of Courts – Law & Practice by Ranadhir Kumar De 

 

- @ Pages 138-139 of Contempt of Courts – Law & Practice by Ranadhir Kumar De 

 

- @ Page 146 of Contempt of Courts – Law & Practice by Ranadhir Kumar De 
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- @ Page 122 of Contempt of Courts – Law & Practice by Ranadhir Kumar De 

 

- @ Page 102  of Contempt of Courts – Law & Practice by Ranadhir Kumar De 

 

- @ Page 94  of Contempt of Courts – Law & Practice by Ranadhir Kumar De 

 

- @ Page 7 of Contempt of Courts – Law & Practice by Ranadhir Kumar De 
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- @ Page 5 of Contempt of Courts – Law & Practice by Ranadhir Kumar De 

 

- @ Page 27 of Contempt of Courts – Law & Practice by Ranadhir Kumar De 

 

- @ Page 108  of Contempt of Courts – Law & Practice by Ranadhir Kumar De 
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- @ Pages 130-131 of Contempt of Courts – Law & Practice by Ranadhir Kumar De 

 

- @ Page 132 of Contempt of Courts – Law & Practice by Ranadhir Kumar De 

 

- @ Pages 146-147 of Contempt of Courts – Law & Practice by Ranadhir Kumar De 
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- @ Page 9 of Miller on Contempt of Court – Fourth Edition by C.J Miller & David Perry, QC 

 

- @ Page 40 of Miller on Contempt of Court – Fourth Edition by C.J Miller & David Perry, QC 

 

- @ Page 44  of Miller on Contempt of Court – Fourth Edition by C.J Miller & David Perry, QC 

 

   
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   



LOSSES CAUSED TO GOVERNMENT WHILST HAVING DEFAULTED THE 

OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS TO NIHAL SRI AMERESEKERE, A 

SOVEREIGN CREDITOR UNDER CONSENT DECREES ORDERED AND 

ENTERED BY COMMERCIAL HIGH COURT  

 

Sugar Deal – Revenue loss of Rs. 15.9 Billion as reported to Committee on Public 

Accounts (COPA) 

 
In comparison to the foregoing defaulted sovereign obligations and commitments to Nihal Sri 
Ameresekere, it was indeed appalling to see the disclosure in the electronic and print media of 
a colossal Loss of Rs. 15.9 Bn., dubiously caused to the Government, as had been reported by 
the Finance Ministry, as a result of ad hoc reduction of  Import Duty on Sugar from Rs. 50 per Kg 
to only cents 25, which drastic sudden drop, apparently had been without reference to Stocks of 
Sugar in the market, Stocks in the Warehouses and Stocks on Water; and without reference to 
the international trend of Sugar prices. This had immensely benefitted a very few selected Sugar 
Importers, and had been suddenly effected by S.R. Attygalle, Secretary Ministry of Finance and 
Treasury and P.B. Jayasundera, Secretary to the President, acting in concert.  
 

Over Payment to Mitsui & Co. Ltd., and Taisei Corporation 
 

Cited below is the Supreme Court Minute of 15.5.2006: 
 

 
 

Notwithstanding the foregoing Undertaking given to the Supreme Court, Mitsui & Co. Ltd., and 
Taisei Corporation (who defrauded the Government) had been paid such last installment also, 
(value today Rs. 1,815 Bn.,) together with interest for delay, in complete contrast to the 
manner in which hitherto  the obligations and commitments to Nihal Sri Ameresekere had been 
dragged on by relevant Public Officers in Contempt of Consent Decrees Ordered and Entered 
by Commercial High Court, whereas Nihal Sri Ameresekere had acted to bring immense benefit 
to the Government !  
 

Oil Hedging Deals 

 

i. Standard Chartered Bank Claim US $ 161,733,500/- + interest - Today’s Value around Rs. 32,600 Mn. 

  
Standard Chartered Bank was Awarded their Claim by the High Court of Justice United Kingdom, 
which disclosed that Ceylon Petroleum Corporation had been continuously advised by a private 
law firm, Nithya Partners, Attorney-at-Law, and significantly not by the Hon. Attorney General. 
 
 
 
 

SCHEDULE II 



 
 
On Nihal Sri Ameresekere’s suggestion made to Exchange Control Department, Controller of 
Exchange imposed a fine of US $ 245 Mn., on Standard Chartered Bank for the transfer of monies 
by US $ 107.8 Mn., on the Capital Account in violation of the Exchange Control Act. After Notice 
by Letter dated 13.5.2009, against which Standard Chartered Bank had filed a Writ Application in 
the Court of Appeal. In such context, it is led to be believed that Standard Chartered Bank Claim 
had been settled at US $ 60 Mn., i.e. a saving of over US $ 100 Mn. (Today Rs. 20,200 Mn.) 
(Exchange Controller had given similar Notice to Commercial Bank also)       
 
Question arises, as to how Standard Chartered Bank’s UK High Court Order had been accepted 
by Ceylon Petroleum Corporation, the UK High Court Order having been required to be 
Registered as a Order and Decree to be enforced in Sri Lanka in terms of the Reciprocal 
Enforcement of Judgments Ordinance No. 41 of 1921 ?  Why was not this enforced ? 
 

ii. Citibank Claim of US $ 195,458,093/- + interest - Today’s Value around Rs. 40,000 Mn. 
 
Citibank’s Claim referred to Arbitration before the London Court of International Arbitration was 
heard by a 3 Member Arbitral Tribunal and rejected, as totally flawed transactions, even in the 
face of the above Judgment of the High Court of Justice United Kingdom having been tendered 
before them ! 
 
Nihal Sri Ameresekere had published in US, the first Volume of his Book on these illegal ‘Derivative 
/ Hedging Deals’ and globally distributed. It is verily believed that the Arbitral Tribunal sitting in 
Singapore had been apprised of the Book, demonstrating the illegality of these betting / 
speculative transactions, thus a saving of more than US $ 195 Mn.(Today Rs. 40,000 Mn.) 
  

iii. Deutsche Bank Claim of US $ 60,368,993/- + interest - Today’s Value around Rs. 12,200 Mn. 
 
Deutsche Bank Claim considered by a 3 Member Arbitral Tribunal of the International Centre for 
Settlement of Investment Disputes was lost by the Government of Sri Lanka, with 2 Members 
holding in favour of Deutsche Bank and one Member strongly dissenting. 
 
It is a travesty of international norm, that a betting or speculative Claim of US $ 60 Mn., had 
been interpreted as ‘an investment’ in terms of the Sri Lanka German Promotion and Reciprocal 
Protection of Investment Treaty, whereas ‘an investment’ ought to have been for economic 
value. In fact the dissenting Award stated Deutsche Bank’s investment, if at all, could only have 
been US $ 2.5 Mn., which was their maximum exposure under the particular speculative 
contract.  
 
Hereto question arises, as to why such Award was not enforced according to Sri Lankan Law as 
provided for in Article 11 (3) of the said Treaty ? There have been cases where the Commercial 
High Court had upheld the minority / dissenting award and not enforced the majority award.  
 

iv. Total Professional Compensation and costs incurred, as per COPE Report of August 2016 has 
been Rs. 1,232.2 Mn. At today’s value would exceed Rs. 2,100 Mn. 

 
 
 
 



 
v. Nihal Sri Ameresekere had filed 2 Cases in May – SC (FR) Application No. 404/2009 and June 2009 

– SC (FR) Application No. 481/2009, respectively, against the transfer of monies on the Capital 
Account in violation of the Exchange Control Act in May 2009, and to prevent foreign litigations 
against the Government and Ceylon Petroleum Corporation in June 2009, which had been 
strenuously opposed by the Attorney General, on basis of time-bar, as Nihal Sri Ameresekere had 
been aware of the previous litigations in January 2009, in which Leave had been granted, but 
proceedings terminated after a dispute with Government over Petroleum Prices. Nihal Sri 
Ameresekere not been a party to such Cases.  

 
Attorney General had assured the Supreme Court of successfully defending the foreign litigations 
and recovering costs, whereas Nihal Sri Ameresekere was seeking to prosecute against the 
miscreant Banks in Sri Lanka seeking Anti-Suit Injunctions against foreign litigations, stating that 
Sri Lanka was the most appropriate forum for litigation – citing - SNI Aérospatiale v Lee Kui Jack & 
Another (1987) 3 All ER @ 510 and Spiliada Maritime Corp v Cansulex Ltd., - (1986) 3 All ER @ 843.  

 
vi. The Banks were liable to be sued for Contempt of Court for misleadingly concocting gambling 

deals. Supreme Court was misled to uphold such time-bar Objections, and in its brief Judgment 
held that Nihal Sri Ameresekere should have filed his Applications before end February 2009, 
which was an impossibility, as the above actions took place only in May and June 2009, thereby 
causing colossal loss and damage to the Government and the country ! 

 
vii. Secretary Treasury P.B. Jayasundera, together with V. Kanagasabapathy, Director Genral, Public 

Enterprises, Finance Ministry, had handled these transaction. 
 
COMPARISON WITH THE CONSENT DECREES PERTAINING TO NIHAL SRI AMERESEKERE  
 
The comparison with the manner, as to how Nihal Sri Ameresekere’s obligations and commitments under 
the Consent Decrees Ordered and Entered by Commercial High Court had been acted upon in sheer 
Contempt of Court, and he having been harassed is indeed appallingly intriguing issue, warranting 
investigation. 
 

 

 



 
 

PRO-BONO WORK BY NIHAL SRI AMERESEKERE 

BENEFITTING THE GOVERNMENT AND THE COUNTRY  
 

NO CRIMINAL ACTION TAKEN AGAINST THOSE WHO CAUSED COLOSSAL 

LOSSES TO THE STATE IN UNEQUAL ENFORCEMENT OF THE RULE OF LAW !   
 
 

1. Savings to Government in 1979  / 1982 by managing finances  
of Sri Lanka Transport Boards by not drawing Subsidies from Treasury 
at 2 years of Rs. 300 Mn., each then = Rs. 600 Mn. at today’s value,  Rs.        55 Bn. 

   
2. Savings to Government in preventing revenue write-off in perverse  

Amnesty named Tax Amnesty in 2003 of Rs. 200 Bn., at today’s value   Rs.   1,320 Bn.   
 
3. Annulling privatization of Sri Lanka Insurance Corporation Ltd., including 

Lanka Hospitals in 2009 at today’s value      Rs.      165 Bn. 
 

4. Annulling monopolistic privatization of Lanka Marine Services Ltd., in 2008 
and recovering past Taxes exempted at today’s value     Rs.         28 Bn. 

 
5. Preventing fraudulent Subsidy by Indian Oil Company on privatization  

of Petroleum Retail Network value in 2004 of Rs. 5,000 Mn., at today’s value Rs.         31 Bn. 
      

6. Savings in Foreign Exchange intervening in fraudulent purported 
Oil Hedging Deals with Standard Chartered Bank, Deutsche Bank, Citibank  
Value as at 2009 US $ 300 Mn., with Interest at today’s value    Rs.         66 Bn. 
 

7. Exposing colossal losses incurred by State by dubious privatisations   Rs.                ?? 
Rs.    1,665 Bn. 

 

SCHEDULE III 

8.   With a Voluntary Survey carried out by the Exchange Controller under requirement of  
Nihal Sri Ameresekere exposed Export Proceeds Leakage as per admissions by Exporters 
from 1994 to 2015 was reckoned to be around at today’s value of            US $ 40,000 Mn. 
 

This was first exposed in 2004 before the then Hon. Prime Minister Mahinda Rajapaksa, and the 

Leaders of the People’s Alliance, in the presence of Lalith Weeratunga, Hon. Prime Minister’s 

Secretary, when the   Governor, Central Bank of Sri Lanka falsely denied the assessment done on a 

Voluntary Survey, where it was admitted 10% non-repatriation of export proceeds, and stating 

that there were no such exports proceeds repatriation leakage. P.B. Jayasundera, Secretary, 

Ministry of Finance & Treasury, also a Member of the Monetary Board, who was present failed 

to take any action thereon. COPE Report 2005 and Auditor General confirmed non-repatriation 

of export proceeds, requiring action to be taken – A Report had been submitted. 

Today Governor, Central Bank of Sri Lanka is endeavouring to enforce repatriation of export 

proceeds, and also the Surrender of export proceeds. If 50% of the above leakage had been 

curtailed, then it would have been US $ 20,000 Mn., with no foreign exchange shortage today !  
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TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN 

Amarananda Somasiri Jayawardena 
Lalltha Javawardena 

NIHAL SRI AMEREStKERE 

It is a pleasure to write about Nihal Sri Ameresekere, the fearless and peerless fighter for the public interest, the rule 
of law and human rights in Sri Lanka's big government and bloated bureaucracy. There is so much he has done, almost 
single-handedly, that it is impossible to condense them into a short note. ln fact, I have repeatedly advised him to write a 
book about his crusade. He says he is working on it, but it does not seem to get done, because he is so immersed in his 
causes. 

Nihal came to my attention, circa late 1980s or early 1990 , as u young Management Accountant, when he shot to fame 
with public exposure of corrupt activities of government. Notable was the award of the Hilton Hotel contract with 
disadvantageous terms to the government. He instituted Sri Lanka's first derivative action in law in 1990 and got the 
judiciary to suspend payments to the Japanese contractor. He also spotlighted the liberal import duty waivers granted by 
the government to favoured clients for flimsy reasons, involving an enom1ous loss of government revenue. He further 
exposed serious irregularities in privatiution of state ussets and enterprises, and came to be lionized by the media. 
Nihal's exposes became major issues at the 1994 Election, which led to the defeat of the government and the coming of 
Ms. Chandrika Bandaranaike Kumaratunge as the President on a platform that included a war on corruption. 

The new President who was also the Minister of Finance & Planning invited me to be the Secretary of tl1e Ministry and the 
Treasury. Naturally, we invited Nihei to join the Ministry as a special high level Adviser to investigate alleged corrupt 
activities of the previous re�mc, especially because the officials tended to be rather defensive of irregularities. He waded 
through tons of files, like a fish taking to water, uncovered several actions that smacked of corruption and remedial action 
was initiated. 

The Hilton contract was the major issue, where the major owner, the government, was exposed to massive losses. Nihal 
gathered sufficient evidence to enable us to renegotiate the contract. He assisted me in the negotiations with great skill, 
in changing several negative clauses and to reclaim the government's rights as major shareholder. Ile also assisted me in 
re-negotiation of an adverse contract in setting up a large Flour Mill by a Singapore Company. 

He also worked with me in preparing the groundwork for a powerful "Public Enterprise Reform Commission" 
(PERC), which was to advise the government in all privatiutions in a transparent manner. It was a fitting tribute to his 
skills and integrity that he was made the Chairman of the PERC later. 

lie continued his work with the Ministry after I left in late 1995 to become the Governor of the Central Bank of Sri 
Lanka. Yet, I kept in close touch with him, and even assisted him in investigating exchange control malpractices. 
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